ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

APR 09 2020

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

RICHARD KENNETH GALLOWAY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-001806

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred where, during the defense's case in chief, it excluded the testimony of a blind expert in psychology and schizoaffective disorder that schizoaffective disorder could cause false memories, since the complainant had been diagnosed with schizoaffective disorder prior to her claim that appellant molested her?

2.

Whether the court erred where it allowed expert testimony of risk factors for childhood sexual abuse, since the subject matter of the testimony was not beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury?

3.

Whether the court erred where it allowed a witness to testify as an expert in child sexual abuse dynamics and disclosures, despite the witness' failure to comply with a subpoena duces tecum that commanded her to bring any research, publications or reports that she relied on as an expert, since the state failed to prove the reliability of the substance of the expert's testimony?

4.

Whether the court erred where it admitted evidence that appellant had physically abused the complainant's mother, where evidence of prior bad acts is limited to the uses enumerated in *State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923) and Rule 404(b), SCRE, since the evidence did not fit within an exception to Rule 404(b) or *Lyle*?

5.

Whether the court erred where it admitted testimony that appellant had written a letter to the complainant's mother apologizing for abusing the mother, where the original writing is generally required to prove the content of the writing, since the original writing was not offered?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 26, 2017, a Greenville County Grand Jury indicted appellant for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree and lewd act on a child, offenses alleged to have occurred from 1987 – 1990. R. 577 – R. 580 Appellant was also charged with two additional counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree. R. 16, ll. 5-22.

Appellant was tried before the Honorable Perry H. Gravely and a jury, from May 14 – 16, 2018. R. 1. John Christopher Shipman and Jacob Goldstein represented appellant. R. 1. Justin Holloway represented the state. R. 1.

Appellant was convicted on two of the four indictments: criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree and lewd act on a minor. R. 577, l. 21 – 578, l. 11. However, the jury found appellant not guilty of a second count of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree, and it hung on a third count of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree. R. 577, l. 5 – 578, l. 2.

Appellant was sentenced to consecutive terms of thirty years for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree and ten years for lewd act on a minor. R. 562, ll. 18-22; R. 581- R. 582.

Defense counsel moved the court to reconsider its sentence and a hearing was held on the matter October 4, 2018. R. 565. Appellant was represented by John Christopher Shipman and the state was represented by Brandi Hinton. R. 565. The court denied the motion. R. 574, ll. 16-17.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred where, during the defense's case in chief, it excluded the testimony of a blind expert in psychology and schizoaffective disorder that schizoaffective disorder could cause false memories, since the complainant was diagnosed with schizoaffective disorder prior to her claim that appellant molested her.

Although the court found Dr. Price was qualified as an expert in schizoaffective disorder, it forbade him from testifying that schizoaffective disorder may produce false memories. The exclusion of this relevant evidence denied appellant his right to present a complete defense since the evidence offered a reasonable explanation of why the complainant might believe she had been molested if she had, in fact, not been.

Standard of review

The decision of whether to admit or exclude testimony from an expert witness is within the sound discretion of the circuit court. *State v. Price*, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006) (citations omitted). The circuit court's decision to admit expert testimony will not be reversed on appeal absent "a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice." *State v. Douglas*, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-48 (2006) (citations omitted). An abuse of discretion occurs when the circuit court's conclusions "either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." *State v. Kromah*, 401 S.C. 340, 349, 737 S.E.2d 490, 495 (2013) (quoting *Douglas*, 369 S.C. at 429-30, 632 S.E.2d at 848) (internal quotation marks omitted). "A [circuit] court's ruling on the admissibility of an expert's testimony constitutes an abuse of discretion where the ruling is manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair." *State v. Grubbs*, 353 S.C. 374, 379, 577 S.E.2d 493, 496 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing *Means v. Gates*, 348

S.C. 161, 166, 558 S.E.2d 921, 924 (Ct. App. 2001)). To show prejudice, the appellant must prove “that there is a reasonable probability the jury’s verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or the lack thereof.” *Fields v. Reg’l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg*, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005) (citing *Means*, 348 S.C. at 166, 558 S.E.2d at 924).

Relevant facts

In 2016, law enforcement officials in Greenville received a letter from the complainant in which she accused appellant of molesting her when she was a child in the 1980’s. R. 45, ll. 21-24; R. 371, ll. 19-25. Appellant was ultimately charged with three counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree and with one count of lewd act on a minor based on these allegations.

At trial, the complainant testified that she began seeing a therapist in 2011 to treat her for post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). The complainant claimed she had PTSD as a result of childhood sexual abuse by appellant. R. 135, l. 19 – R. 136, l. 14. According to the complainant, in 2012, she was also diagnosed with schizoaffective disorder. R. 185, ll. 18-20.

After the state rested, defense counsel proffered the testimony of Dr. David Price, who was ultimately qualified as an expert in psychology, PTSD, and schizoaffective disorder. R. 403, ll. 2-3; R. 440, ll. 6-23. Dr. Price had not evaluated the complainant, and he testified as a blind expert. R. 425, ll. 12-22. During the proffer, Dr. Price explained that schizoaffective disorder can cause delusions which result in false memories. R., 423, l. 22 – 424, l. 1. When cross-examined by the solicitor, Dr. Price acknowledged these false memories may produce false accusations in court. R. 427, l. 23 – 428, l. 3.

The court ruled that Dr. Price would be allowed to testify about PTSD and schizoaffective disorder generally but ruled that he could not testify about false memory. R. 430, ll. 6-19.

Specifically, the court found the “nature of the testimony is beyond the standard for the jury . . . I think that he’s indicated that he has this knowledge that qualifies him as an expert. Generally, with exception that the substance is reliable as to anything relating to PTSD and schizoaffective disorder.” R. 430, ll. 6-13. “But I am not going to allow any testimony on this whole false memory syndrome¹ or whatever it’s called, you could open the door for every single case from that. So I’m not going to allow anything regarding false memory, repressed memory since he has not evaluated this particular person and be[en] able to diagnose[] that’s what’s going on here.” R. 430, ll. 13-19.

Discussion

The court erred when it denied appellant the opportunity to present a complete defense. Defense counsel properly objected to this restriction here, and the grounds of his objection were apparent from his proffer of Dr. Price’s testimony and from the context.² R. 430, l. 20.

“The right to offer the testimony of witnesses, and to compel their attendance, if necessary, is in plain terms the right to present a defense, the right to present the defendant’s version of the facts as well as the prosecution’s to the jury so it may decide where the truth lies.”

¹ Although the solicitor tried to couch Dr. Price’s testimony on false memory in terms of a “disorder” or a “syndrome” during his cross-examination, Dr. Price personally avoided using those terms. R. 424, l. 20 – 425, l. 5.

² See Rule 103(a)(2), SCRE, which provides that: “Error may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected, and . . . In case the ruling is one excluding evidence, the substance of the evidence and the specific evidentiary basis supporting admission **were made known to the court by offer or were apparent from the context.**” (emphasis added).

Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 19 (1967). “Just as an accused has the right to confront the prosecution’s witnesses for the purpose of challenging their testimony, he has the right to present his own witnesses to establish a defense. This right is a fundamental element of due process of law.” *Id.* “[T]he Constitution guarantees criminal defendants ‘a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense.’” *Crane v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 683, 690 (1986) (quoting *California v. Trombetta*, 467 U.S. 479, 485 (1984)). “The rights to confront and cross-examine witnesses and to call witnesses in one’s own behalf have long been recognized as essential to due process.” *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 294 (1973).

Rule 401, SCRE provides that “‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Here, the evidence appellant sought to introduce—that schizoaffective disorder could cause false memories—was relevant, since the complainant said she suffered from this disorder, and the ultimate issue to be decided in the case was whether the molestation alleged to have occurred thirty years earlier happened in fact, or happened only in her mind.

Rule 702, SCRE provides that “If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.” “[E]xpert evidence is required where a factual issue must be resolved with scientific, technical, or any other specialized knowledge.” *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010).

When executing its gatekeeping duties, the “court must make three key preliminary findings which are fundamental to Rule 702 before the jury may consider expert testimony. First,

the trial court must find that the subject matter is beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury, thus requiring an expert to explain the matter to the jury.” *Id.* at 446, 699 S.E.2d at 175. “Next, while the expert need not be a specialist in the particular branch of the field, the trial court must find that the proffered expert has indeed acquired the requisite knowledge and skill to qualify as an expert in the particular subject matter.” *Id.* “Finally, the trial court must evaluate the substance of the testimony and determine whether it is reliable.” *Id.*

Here, the court found the subject matter at issue to be beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury and it found that Dr. Price had acquired the knowledge to qualify him as an expert. R. 430, ll. 6-10. However, the court aborted its Rule 702 analysis as to the reliability of the false memory testimony and instead stated that its reason for excluding testimony about false memory was because Dr. Price did not evaluate the complainant. R. 430, ll. 13-19. The court’s failure to complete the Rule 702 analysis as to the reliability of Dr. Price’s proffered testimony about false memory was an abandonment of its gatekeeping role and was error.

Since the fact that Dr. Price was testifying as a blind expert did not prevent the court from admitting his testimony as to PTSD and schizoaffective disorder, it was an abuse of discretion to find that his status as a blind expert precluded him from offering testimony on how memory can be affected by schizoaffective disorder. Moreover, as discussed in Issue 3 below, the court allowed the testimony of another education witness—Shauna Galloway-Williams—who was a blind expert, when the evidence was offered by the state. The court’s exclusion of Dr. Price’s testimony here was manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, and unfair. *See State v. Grubbs*, 353 S.C. at 379, 577 S.E.2d at 496 (court’s ruling on the admissibility of an expert’s testimony is an abuse of discretion where the ruling is manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair). That is

particularly so, since the state's witness was allowed to give expert testimony about the impact of trauma on memory.³ R. 283, l. 4 – 284, l. 2; R. 331, l. 14 – 332, l. 4.

The court erred when it precluded appellant from presenting a complete defense by excluding relevant evidence offered by a qualified expert. *See Washington v. Texas*, 388 U.S. 14, 19 (1967) (the right to offer the testimony of a witness is, in plain terms, the right to present a defense). Appellant was prejudiced because the exclusion of the evidence left the jury with only one conclusion—the complainant said she was molested because she had, in fact, been molested. Had the jury been presented with another plausible reason for the complainant's testimony—false memory caused by schizoaffective disorder—the jury would likely have found reasonable doubt.

³ Galloway-Williams told the jury that “time and date” are “abstract concept[s] that most children don't really master until 12 or 14 years old and still they struggle with. So, you know, to expect that a child, or even an adult can remember the time and date of specific events, traumatic events may be very challenging.” R. 331, ll. 14-20.

The court erred where it admitted expert testimony about risk factors for childhood sexual abuse, since the subject matter of the testimony was not beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury.

Pursuant to Rule 702, SCRE, the trial court must find that the expert testimony at issue is about subject matter that is beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury before it may be admitted. Expert testimony that age, developmental delays, emotional problems, behavioral problems, substance abuse, poverty, violence, and single-parent homes with live-in partners were risk factors for sexual abuse was not beyond the ordinary ken of the jury, and so its admission was error.

Standard of review

The decision of whether to admit or exclude testimony from an expert witness is within the sound discretion of the circuit court. *State v. Price*, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006) (citations omitted). The circuit court's decision to admit expert testimony will not be reversed on appeal absent "a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice." *State v. Douglas*, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-48 (2006) (citations omitted). An abuse of discretion occurs when the circuit court's conclusions "either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." *State v. Kromah*, 401 S.C. 340, 349, 737 S.E.2d 490, 495 (2013) (quoting *Douglas*, 369 S.C. at 429-30, 632 S.E.2d at 848) (internal quotations omitted). "A [circuit] court's ruling on the admissibility of an expert's testimony constitutes an abuse of discretion where the ruling is manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair." *State v. Grubbs*, 353 S.C. 374, 379, 577 S.E.2d 493, 496 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing *Means v. Gates*, 348 S.C. 161, 166, 558 S.E.2d 921, 924 (Ct. App. 2001)). To show prejudice, the appellant must prove "that there is

a reasonable probability the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or the lack thereof." *Fields v. Reg'l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg*, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005) (citing *Means*, 348 S.C. at 166, 558 S.E.2d at 924).

Relevant facts

The state proffered the testimony of Shauna Galloway-Williams, who was ultimately qualified as an expert in child sexual abuse dynamics and delayed disclosures. R. 322, ll. 17-20. During the proffer, in addition to testimony about delayed disclosure, the solicitor asked Galloway-Williams to provide the "risk factors" for "childhood sexual abuse situations." R. 281, ll. 5-7. Galloway-Williams gave the following response.

So, there are some risk factors that we generally talk about in terms of child maltreatment. One of the—some of the personal risk factors that would be part of the child themselves might be the **child's age, developmental delays, emotional problems, behavioral problems**, things that make a child more vulnerable or somewhat easier target for someone to abuse.

There are familial or household risk factors. **Substance abuse** is one of those risk factors. Also, single-parent homes, particularly **single-parent homes with live-in partners** are particularly high risk factors. We tend to see higher rates of abuse in those households.

Then societal factors, they play a role in that as well. **Violence, high poverty**, race may play a role in abuse and neglect scenarios.

R. 309, ll. 8-23 (emphasis added).

At the conclusion of the proffer, defense counsel objected to the admission of Galloway-Williams' testimony based on, inter alia, the fact that "the subject matter is not beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury." R. 308, l. 21 – 309, l. 5. Counsel correctly argued that, "even nonscientific experts need to meet the foundational requirements of Rule 702." R. 313, ll. 8-9.

However, the court ruled the evidence was admissible. R. 315, ll. 17-18. The court stated that “after hearing, I find the subject matter is beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury. That she has the requisite knowledge and skill to serve as an expert and that I find the subject testimony reliable.” R. 308, ll. 10-14.

Galloway-Williams’ testimony before the jury tracked her in camera testimony. R. 336, l. 6 – 337, l. 5.

Discussion

The court erred when it allowed Galloway-Williams to testify in her capacity as an expert witness as to risk factors for child sexual abuse since the state failed to prove that the subject matter of this testimony was beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury. Although the witness was an experienced child advocate, her expert testimony should have been limited to delayed disclosures.

The South Carolina Supreme Court explained in *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 446, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010), that “in executing its gatekeeping duties, the trial court must make three key preliminary findings which are fundamental to Rule 702 before the jury may consider expert testimony.” “First, the trial court must find that the subject matter is beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury, thus requiring an expert to explain the matter to the jury.” *Id.* In *State v. White*, 382 S.C. 265, 270, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009), the South Carolina Supreme Court clarified that all expert testimony, including nonscientific expert testimony, must satisfy the criteria of Rule 702, SCRE.

The state failed to demonstrate that the expert testimony was beyond the knowledge of the jury. Galloway-Williams testified that age, developmental delays, emotional problems, behavioral problems, substance abuse, poverty, violence, and single-parent homes with live-in

partners were all risk factors for sexual abuse. R. 281, ll. 8-23. This information was not outside of the ordinary knowledge of the jury, and it did not assist the jury with determining a fact at issue or understanding the evidence. When the proffered evidence failed the first step of the Rule 702 inquiry as laid out in *Ford Motor Co.*, the court should have prohibited the testimony.

In *State v. Brown*, 411 S.C. 332, 341–42, 768 S.E.2d 246, 251 (Ct. App. 2015), a case involving this same expert witness, this Court found that “Galloway-Williams’ specialized knowledge of the behavioral characteristics of child sex abuse victims was relevant and crucial in assisting the jury’s understanding of why children might delay disclosing sexual abuse, as well as why their recollections may become clearer each time they discuss the instances of abuse.” *Accord State v. Weaverling*, 337 S.C. 460, 523 S.E.2d 787 (Ct. App. 1999) (expert testimony on behavioral characteristics of child sexual assault victims “assists the jury in understanding some of the aspects of the behavior of victims and provides insight into the sexually abused child’s often strange demeanor.”)

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