STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Greenville County  
Honorable Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RECEIVED**

**Apr 27 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

RICHARD KENNETH GALLOWAY,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2018-001806  
\_\_\_\_\_

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**  
\_\_\_\_\_

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The trial court did not err in excluding expert testimony that someone diagnosed with schizoaffective disorder may create false memories because there was no testimony or medical records showing Victim suffered from this symptom or any other symptoms of schizoaffective disorder. Further, because the blind expert was allowed to testify to the jury that someone suffering from schizoaffective disorder may suffer from delusions or hallucinations, Appellant was not prejudiced by the exclusion of the testimony. Finally, any error was harmless because Appellant admitted to the abuse to Victim's mother and Victim's testimony was corroborated by her mother's testimony.**

Appellant complains the trial court erred in limiting Dr. Price's testimony that someone suffering from schizoaffective disorder may create false memories. However, no evidence was presented at trial as to any symptoms of schizoaffective disorder that Victim might have suffered, including any false memories. Also, no evidence was presented that Victim suffered from any mental health issues during the time in her childhood that she alleged she was sexually abused, at the time she reported abuse in 2016, or when she testified in 2018. Without proof that Victim suffered false memories or other symptoms of schizoaffective disorder at any time, the jury would need to speculate in the absence of evidence to consider Dr. Price's excluded blind-expert testimony. His testimony was not relevant and not probative for the jury's consideration.

Dr. Price was qualified to provide expert testimony on schizoaffective disorder and post-traumatic stress disorder. Appellant complains the trial court erred in limiting his testimony by not allowing him to testify that people with schizoaffective disorder may produce false memories. Dr. Price was permitted to testify before the jury that possible symptoms of schizoaffective disorder may include delusions or hallucinations. He also was permitted to testify that someone suffering from

PTSD may have distorted memories. R. pp. 449-51.

The right to present a defense is not unlimited, but must “bow to accommodate other legitimate interests in the criminal trial process.” Rock v. Arkansas, 483 U.S. 44, 55 (1987). While defendants are entitled to a fair opportunity to present a defense, that right does not encompass the right to present any evidence regardless of its admissibility under the rules of evidence. State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. 344, 543 S.E.2d 586, 594 (Ct. App. 2001) *overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005).

Trial judges have considerable discretion in ruling on the admission or exclusion of evidence, and an appellate court will not reverse a trial judge’s ruling on evidentiary matters absent a clear abuse of that discretion resulting in prejudice to the defendant. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002); *see State v. Torres*, 390 S.C. 618, 625, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010) (“The appellate court reviews a trial judge’s ruling on admissibility of evidence pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard and gives **great deference** to the trial court.” (emphasis added)).

Under Rule 702, SCRE:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

Before admitting expert testimony, the trial judge must find: (1) the expert’s testimony will assist the trier of fact; (2) the expert has the required knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education; and (3) the testimony is reliable. State v. Martin, 391 S.C. 508, 514, 706 S.E.2d 40, 42 (Ct. App. 2011).

Even if the trial court determines proposed expert testimony meets the criteria of Rule 702,

SCRE, it still may be excludable if it is not relevant or is unduly prejudicial. See State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993) (noting both expert testimony and fact testimony about trauma resulting from sexual abuse is admissible if its probative value is not outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice). Under Rule 401, SCRE: “‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Under Rule 403, SCRE: “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, . . . .”

The evidence Victim suffered from schizoaffective disorder presented at trial was limited to Victim’s admission on cross-examination that she told the detective she was diagnosed with schizoaffective disorder and her admission that she was hospitalized for schizoaffective disorder in 2012. R. pp. 185-86. Defense counsel did not ask Victim about any of the symptoms Victim might have suffered from her schizoaffective disorder. The defense did not produce medical records or present any testimony to the circumstances of her hospitalization. The defense did not present any evidence as to the presence of any symptoms of schizoaffective disorder that Victim may have exhibited. Therefore, it is speculative at best that Victim produced false memories as a result of her suffering from schizoaffective disorder. Accordingly, the trial court did not err in excluding this portion of the blind expert testimony because insufficient foundation was presented to make Dr. Price’s testimony relevant. The jury would have needed to rankly speculate, without evidence, that Victim suffered these symptoms in order to believe that the memories of sexual abuse were fabricated as a result of her mental condition.

In State v. Turner, 373 S.C. 121, 129-30, 644 S.E.2d 693, 698 (2007), the appellant argued

the trial court erred by not allowing him to question the victim regarding her diagnosis of schizophrenia and the names of the medications she was taking. During the in camera proceedings, the trial court observed, “There would be very little that would assist the jury in evaluating her ability to recall what happened or her credibility. The court felt it would require speculation on the jury’s part to connect the medical testimony to her ability to testify truthfully.” Id. at 130, 644 S.E.2d at 698.

The Supreme Court found no error, opining, “Because the victim was taking her medication at the time of the robbery and at the time of the trial, her schizophrenia diagnosis and the types of medications she was taking were irrelevant to her ability to truthfully recall the events. Further, appellant has not shown why the specific information was needed or any nexus between the medications the victim was taking and any alleged misidentification of appellant.” Id. at 131, 644 S.E.2d at 698.

Further, the Supreme Court found the appellant failed to show he was unfairly prejudiced by the limitation because the victim testified on direct examination that she took medication and was taking the medication on the day of the robbery; and on cross-examination, the appellant elicited testimony that if she does not take medication, over a period of time, she will get confused, forgetful and may hear voices. Id.

In the present case, as in Turner, there was no evidence connecting Dr. Price’s excluded testimony with the fact testimony presented. No evidence was presented that Victim incurred false memories at any point as a result of schizoaffective disorder. No testimony was presented Victim suffered from schizoaffective disorder in her childhood during 1987 to 1990, or at any time prior to 2012. Moreover, no evidence was presented that she was suffering from symptoms of the disorder

when she reported the sexual assaults to law enforcement authorities in 2016. No evidence was presented that her treatment for the disorder in 2012 was not successful or that medication and treatment failed to contain any symptoms Victim might have otherwise suffered.

Appellant was not prejudiced by the exclusion of the testimony. Exclusion of evidence is reversible only where error and prejudice are shown. State v. Bell, 302 S.C. 18, 27, 393 S.E.2d 364, 369 (1990). In the instant case, Dr. Price was allowed to testify that someone suffering from schizoaffective disorder may suffer delusions or hallucinations. Additionally, Dr. Price testified that someone suffering from PTSD may suffer flashbacks that are not accurate memories. Therefore, essentially the same information was provided to the jury. When other properly admitted testimony reveals essentially the same information, the improper exclusion of admissible evidence is harmless. State v. Brown, 344 S.C. 302, 543 S.E.2d 568 (Ct. App. 2001) (finding, in a speeding prosecution, that even if magistrate should have allowed the video of the roadway into evidence, it was cumulative to testimony concerning the roadway and a diagram of the road that was used at trial) *overruled on other grounds by* State v. Oxner, 391 S.C. 132, 134, 705 S.E.2d 51, 52 (2011).

Additionally, any error was harmless because Mother corroborated many of the events Victim described. In a surprising departure from many other trials for sex crimes, Appellant, the perpetrator, was the first to disclose the first occurrence of sexual abuse, telling Mother something occurred at University Inn, but claiming it was a mistake because he thought Victim was Mother when he woke up with his arm around Victim. R. p. 216, line 18 – p. 217, line 9. Further, Mother confronted Appellant after Victim later disclosed the longstanding sexual abuse to Mother. Appellant sought forgiveness rather than deny the abuse. R. pp. 230-34. Therefore, evidence guaranteed the jury would not believe the allegations of abuse were driven by schizoaffective disorder-induced false

memories. Given this level of corroboration and the lack of evidence Victim suffered any of the described symptoms of schizoaffective disorder, any error was harmless and Appellant was not prejudiced by the limitation on Dr. Price's irrelevant testimony. State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (holding whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the case, but it is harmless where it could not reasonably have changed the outcome of the trial).

## II.

**The trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing expert testimony concerning the risk factors for child sexual abuse because the testimony about characteristics of sexually abused children is beyond the ken of a layperson, and the issue is not preserved for review.**

Appellant argues the trial court abused its discretion because it allowed Galloway-Williams to testify about the risk factors for child sexual abuse. Appellant argues such testimony is not beyond the ken of lay jurors, but this claim is not supported by a sufficient objection to the trial court nor legal authority to this Court. Because most jurors are not familiar with the dynamics of child sexual abuse, the testimony was beyond the ken of lay jurors and proper for expert testimony.

### **How the issue arose**

During trial, Appellant's counsel made a motion to require the trial court to exercise its gatekeeping function under Rule 702, SCRE, as to Galloway-Williams' expected testimony. Counsel advised the trial court, "And I expect we're going to have a motion at that time after the testimony is proffered objecting to her being qualified as a witness and being allowed to provide testimony to the jury in this case. So, I don't know that [the prosecutor] needs to touch on every single detail of her testimony, but the substance of it, the heart of it, I think, yes." R. p. 263, lines 1-13.

The trial court noted that Galloway-Williams' expert testimony was found admissible under Rule 702, SCRE in State v. Brown, 411 S.C. 332, 768 S.E.2d 246 (Ct. App. 2015). However, defense counsel argued a hearing was required, relying on State v. Anderson, 413 S.C. 212, 218, 776 S.E.2d 76, 79 (2015). So the trial court presided over an in camera hearing on the matter. When Galloway-Williams took the stand in camera, the trial court amusingly referred to some prior event,

telling Galloway-Williams, “I won’t shock you like I did in Pickens.” So it appears the trial court was familiar with Galloway-Williams’ testimony from at least one past trial. R. p. 267, lines 16-18.

Galloway-Williams testified to her considerable credentials, including: (1) she was currently the Executive Director of the Julie Valentine Center; (2) she earned a bachelor’s degree in psychology and master’s degree in counseling; (3) she attended the continuing education required for her to maintain her South Carolina license as a professional counselor; (4) her attainment of over 150 hours of skills-based training related to the investigation and assessment of children where there are allegations of child maltreatment; (5) her coursework as an adjunct professor at USC-Upstate teaching a course in child maltreatment and a course on gender violence in society; (6) her experience providing professional assistance, including counseling, to children when there is an allegation of child maltreatment, neglect, or sexual assault; and (7) her twenty years of experience in the mental health field. R. pp. 267-72.

The trial court found she was qualified to provide expert testimony after defense counsel advised he did not have any “specific questions about her qualification necessarily” but defense counsel still wanted to understand the substance of the expert testimony. R. pp. 271-73.

Galloway-Williams then testified in camera, defining delayed disclosure and explaining factors that result in delayed disclosure (R. pp. 275-78). Additionally, she testified about grooming (R. pp. 278-80); piecemeal disclosure (R. pp. 280-81); the effect of threats and violence on delayed reporting (R. pp. 281-83); and a child’s ability to remember details of the abuse (R. p. 283). In the mix, she provided testimony about the risk factors for child sexual abuse (R. p. 281).

Defense counsel engaged in a lengthy cross-examination, but did not challenge testimony regarding the risk factors for child abuse. R. pp. 285-88. After the trial court reaffirmed his ruling

finding the testimony admissible, defense counsel placed his objections on the record, arguing none of the three prongs of Rule 702, SCRE were met for the testimony as a whole. He targeted testimony concerning delayed disclosure and the non-offending caregiver's role in enabling or discouraging disclosure, arguing it was not beyond the common knowledge of jurors, and he also argued testimony regarding a children's ability to recall or remember details of abuse was not proper. R. pp. 309-12. He asserted Galloway-Williams was not qualified because she did not do research or keep statistics, and made an argument about Galloway-Williams' response to defense counsel's broad subpoena request. R. pp. 313-15. However, defense counsel never argued that Galloway-Williams' testimony about the risk factors for child sexual abuse was improper testimony.

When Galloway-Williams testified before the jury, defense counsel reasserted his previous objection made in camera when the prosecution moved for the trial court to qualify Galloway-Williams as an expert. Trial counsel at this time also added an objection that the expert testimony was bolstering even though Galloway-Williams never interviewed or spoke with Victim. R. pp. 321-22. When Galloway-Williams testified about risk-factors before the jury, defense counsel did not interpose an objection. R. pp. 336-37.

Appellant's argument is not preserved for review. The ground asserted on appeal must be supported by the objection raised at trial. State v. Silver, 314 S.C. 483, 486, 431 S.E.2d 250, 251 (1993). The argument advanced on appeal was not raised and ruled on below and therefore was not preserved for review. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 134, 620 S.E.2d 737, 741 (2005); State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal.”). Defense counsel offered several meritless arguments to the trial court, but not the one advanced now on appeal, that testimony about the risk

factors of abuse were not beyond the common knowledge of jurors. Instead, defense counsel argued, against the overwhelming weight of authority, that delayed disclosure was not beyond the common knowledge of jurors. Yet he did not target the limited testimony presented on the risk factors. Accordingly, this Court should not review the issue on appeal.

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